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HEADQUA:TiRS
U.5. STHRATZGIC BOKBING SURVEL
(PACIFIC)
APO #234
C/O POSTMASTHER, SAN FRALNCISCO
JTEZR OGATICH NWO. 249 PIACL: Tokyo
DATS: <7 OUctober 1945

<8 October 124 5
-1 November 1945
Division of Origin: Military Analysis.

Sub jecii dJapanese Army Air Force and the Pnilippine Campaigsn
Perscnnel interrogated and baek, . round of each:

Colenel MATSUMax, M., a regular officer of the Japanese Army, was
venior dtaft Officer, 4th Air Army, Manila, from May, 1944, to Janu—
ary 1940; otaff Officer, Air Hq, Training vection, Tokyo, from Janu--
ary 1845, to march, 1945: Staff Ofiicer, Air General army, Lrainine
vection, Tokyo, from march 1945, to Au;ust, 19453 Secretary »f uar
Ministry, YTolyo, from Ausust, 1945 to date.

Major MARUTA, F.. a regular officer of the Japanese Arny, Tokorczawa
(traines) from February, 1936 to Janmary, 133«; lst Fu, Instructor

at military Academy, Instructor at Akeno air ochool, v madron Coi--
cander 0f d«th Fn, Instructor again at Akeno from 193%. to 1942 staff
Otiicers dchool, from December, 1942 to au,ust, 1943; Trainin: section,
Koku Hombu, from ausust, 1943 to april, 1945; akeno Hivotal, frem
April, 19485 to June, 1945; Staff Officer, 20th F.C,, July and ausust
1345.

dhcre interviewed: MBEIJI =nildinz, Room 722.
Interrogators: Lt. Comdr. Aikin, Major licZlwain, and Lt. Comdr. Field.

Allied Interprcters: Lt Comdr. Wichols, Uduk, Lt. Comdr. Huggine, Major
Snively, Lt. (J.G.) Brown, Mr. sSaoki.

Allied Officers Presentt lajor Braucher, Captain Logen, Captain Haskins,
Lt. Dalfrey.

o UlARY
Coulunel matsunmae was interrc.ated upor tae fcllowing sut jects:
1. Japanese army aircraft losvses in the <nd Pnilippines Campaign,
. dapancse Llone ang straleg; in she Zud Philippincs Campaign.
b. The Japanese Pilot lrainin: Pro; ram.

#. 1he oin.aporc Carmpai. n,

Colonel matsumae's statements with respect to losses were maae larsely
from memery anc further interrocation may be necessary in order to recon—
cile them wiw. other information. In addition, Colonel latsumae is assiste
1n. in preparin, the answers to0 the Military anilysis Zivision question-
alres relative to the Singarore and the Philip.ines campaigns and will

supplement the inforrwtion .iven in this interrogaticn.

Major Maruta assisted Colcnel Matsumae in answering guestions zbout
the Japanese trainia. pro, ram.
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<0 Octdbar to the end of theiPhillpplnea Gampaagn.
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ZBINFORCENMENT OF THE PEILIPP LIS,

 JAPANESE

SoES IN THS PHILIPPIIES -CAMPALG

-Col. Hatsumde resconstructed from. memory the folloW1n tables of Japanﬂ
eae.army.nlrcrafb strength, losaes reinforcementa-and replacements frqm

~ L]

wia 4% 8.4 bTEﬁhGTH

'Tbtal figgiefg

btrensth Total M erationsl Fishtewr
Mid-Summer 1944 350 250 3
Farly Sept (prior e
to 9th) 300 200 -
10 Getober 400 200 -
20 October - 300~ 160 ' i 11 & 3
1 December 300 150 . 100 L w o akd 7O
15 Decenber - 300 100 : : 3
1l January 120 ; =15 SR AR T LA U S ' ST B T
15 March ; 10'1-13 . B-6 i 3 ; T S AR e g e

- LOSSES, . ‘ 2.

{2 o2 .
Total Totai Fibhters Suicides

Ootolier © e gOGL - tLee o Lcs L g
November = © 800/1000 . 600 .. 180
December 600 400 100
January | & 175 ta s . M0 : -120 ) &
~ Hote: Col. natsumae stated that throu.hout the campalgn, abou one- .
third of the losses represented aireraft shot down,:one-third those . b e
destroyed on the ,round, and one-third those loet for other.reasons. Sui-—

cide planes were classifie&_aa.planes dost. 'in combats

4

.1¢LLOGaTIONb.Am thLAGLMHNTb

Planea(l) Rlanes Planes kKeplacement ﬂey'Unifs(a)

Planes

Allocated arrived Arrived Arrived: Planss Arrived .
.from . . from arrived: . . :
Japan outside ‘
Japan
Oct. 20=31 100 800 100 700. 100(3) 700 (4)
November 1000 . 800: 750 50/6C(5) 500/600 2007 300
December 800 600 BOG -~ u . 200/ 300 '300/&00
Januar; 180 100 100 ., 40 , 60 :

(1) Except in October, this figure inoludies planes assigned to units
moving for the first time into. the Philippincs aes well as planes
dlLOCatEd as replacements for units already in the Philippines.

(2) " i.)e. Planes assi:ned to units whigh had not prev10ubly operated
in the Philippines. - ; .

- (3) From Japan. | A R T TR
“(«) "Half from Malaya, Netherlands Zaet Indics. ‘ o e
1(0) New units from Mala;a bumatra. | ; -

AIRCMT LO SES'

Colonel Matsumae made the followinb statements DJ wa; of expldnatlon of the .

!‘-I- .. L . 1 .

When was the-deecision made to bring air reinforcements into the Philippines?

;! “d.pl.' _.- " ‘h, -\

On 21 October, by General TOMINAGA,. Commanulng reneral of the 4th aAlr arny.
He orderad in 800 planes. . . |

o

where dic theee planes come from?

They were brought in from dhanghai, Formosa, Malaya and Borneas.

ol




Interrogation #249 Cont'd
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vid these 800 pla.nes conié -a':li‘é.-i once‘f | - '

Two thiras came at once others drlfted in later, havlng been delaged by en-
élne fallure weather, etc.

Xe b

Ry

were these,plaaes replacementb for unita already - oPeratinb in the Philippines

or were they entlrely néw units brought -into- the.PhilﬁppinesT X

About 700 of them were in units. . For example 7 Flying Brigade (heavy bombers)
came from Sungei Patani, Malaye., via Labuan, Borneo. to Clark Fiecld. They

deft Malaya on 23 ‘October with about 40 eaircraft.
Did any reinforcements come from Manchuria?
Manchurian units had come down in August.

were any special arrangements made for the reinforcement of Japanese‘ﬂrmy Alr
units in the Philippiries? *

At the end of October Lt. Col. Murata, then a Staff Officer in the Southern
arny under Field Murshal Terauchi, went to Tokyo to sek about getting planes
from Army Air Headquarters. gHe requested 1,200 to 1,p fizhter planes a
month for the Philippines. f coursg he knew the pro juction figures and 1t
would have been useless forfhim to requs 8t more. M.,runderstmdlnb is that
this request was-based on -h _iné 300 serviceable fighter planes available
daily and it was felt this ¢ould be aeccomplished by the allocation of 1,200
planes monthly. Losses of 00% a month were e: pgct In November, Tpkyo
allocated 1,000 of which 80D arrived, so tunat perhaps 200 were lost en route.
Some of theue were subsequanhtly repairud and sent }n down to Tmzon.

When wae it declded to Bc?ipno more planes to thoi£h111pptnes?

About <0 Janunry 19&5,

aftually none were a;nt 1 aftur about 9 January 1945
because taere were no sc

iceable air fieids.

wnat was tae eficet of the mideecember Btrikes on Glark Fltl&?

'- 4 bfmlms W CLnRK F

¥ l';r" L] LB '."‘ *'

'“SerV1ceaballty was not actually reduoed.very'WUCh- Thé planes were thewoughly

dispersed and there was little need for maintenance. On the otier nana, of
course, dispersal vitally hinderecd:operations:

When dia this disoersal begin?

Mostl, after the B-24 strikes. ' L &
Dld thelB—B*s debtroy many aircraft on the ground? ¥

Far mofe than the ecarrier strikes.

; A'I‘TRC-KS O LINGAIBN -

el 2l i ; :
What planes wareftnyolved 1n.the attackron the U, 5. Forces en route to Lingayen
the first weck of January, 19457 - '

Both army and Navy planes were émployed i about equal proportions. about 120
army planes from Clark Field were involved = all suicide. . In view of the very
heavy allied fighter cover afforded along the coast, between the eonvoy and the
Cagayan Valley airfields, our planeg ecould.not penctrate to the convoy'and had
to g0 around——either to the north over Cape Balinao or to the south over Cor-
residor—and attackgthe,conyoy from the west:: Meanwhile, -despite.the allicd
cover, tiaere were very few attacks on the Clark Ficld area. These d@ttacks .

were carried out over a period of several days and durinh that time 120 planes
"were commztted and -lost, - ~ - * e

what liaison was there between 4 alr army and the mavy nir commanda in the
Phnilippines? Theld % bR A
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Interrogation #2349 Contd

A. There was a cbmplete'intefahange of coplce of plans. Moreover on ‘caeh staff

there was a member of the.other service, . .. : . -
@. When dia this interehange begind . . ) e o | ~ Y

o==af

A, aAY least by June 1944, . Theuinterchangé‘waa between the 4 Air army and the ..

= - #

lut nir Fleet and later with Combined Base Air Force.

SUICIDE ATTAGKS . . . P e '

W+ When.was the first suicide attack by a.Japanese Army ynit in the Philippines .
Campaign? = | b v 2 |

A. &0 October, by a plane from the 24th Flying Regiment.

&+ When was tﬁe;firstsg;dide_aﬁtabk‘by a iapanese Army plane in the entire war?

A. A suicide attack on a"torpédo vas made by an Army plane protecting a convoy
in May of 1944 in the Java sea. In June of 1944, a suicide attack was made
in the andaman Islands, with very successful results, and the idea that tais
was the best way to destroy ships .quickly spread throughout the Fapunese army
‘and Navy Air Forces. ILater in the summer of 1944, a plane of the 5th Fl;ing
Regiment mace a suicide attack at Biak (New Guinea),

&+ what was the first unit specifidélly orgaﬁized.ae a suicide unit?

A. The Fugaku Special Attack unit.

¢« When was it organized? - ‘ § » Beey o

A, In carly October 1944,

Q. Where'was it orgeaized? | .

o
a— B 4 -
Nt

A. at the damamatsu Air ochool at Hamamateu in Japan.

we HOW Was it formed? | | G- G
s, otudeat pilots voluntcered for the aut,. . . .

we ~Waecu Was it given its naned

A, On arsival in tne Philippines at the <nd of October by Geieral TOMINAla, the
Commanding General of the 4th Air arm;. - - |

F5.iSE OF PHILIPPI,ES

il il = ‘--‘g-.*-.‘—*“.—ﬂ
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- what was jour estimate of Allied intentions as of May 19447
A, wne theugnt the Allies would do one of two thin:ss

(1) ‘Invade Palau Islanda éﬁd'fr6m th¢re iavade the Philippines at eipher
‘Leyte or Lamon Bay. 7 ' -
nr
(2) Invade Morotai and from there invade the Philippines at Davao.
e thought that the Philippine landings would oveceur in september or carly Oectouber,
after the allied landing at Saasapor (30 July) we cunsidered the sceond alterna-
tive the mure pribable.

% What was your plan for the defense of lorotai and Palau?

A. Wp had no plan for the defense of Palaw, but liorotal was to be defeuded by
army planes staging through Davac, attacking: Morctai and landing at Manade,
Likewise plancs from Kendari and .almssar were to move tu ambon, whence they
Were 10 attack Morcotai and land at Manade. Je started to put the plan into -
operatioa, moving headquérteya vf 2nd Flying Division from degrus to Fanado
and 7th Flying Uivision from Ambon to Masnado. The da, Defure the first carrier
strilke on thu.Philippin&s_(i.e, 8 September) a naval lockout in Davac harbor -
lssucd a false report that the Amcricans were landing in Davac Bay. Therc-
Upvi: we abaaduicd our plans and withdrew all our planes from Manade bacz t¢
He. Do, : , : & , b

el
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Q. What losses did the JAAF incur as-a rééutt™ef-the'd Siptember cariiecr strilke?

A. The first attack caused a loss of 200 Army planes = mditly on* the ground, -

.....

Q. What losses”did jou'Sustaih from the seoind’ tariertrike agatnet Tuzoh aboit
el September? & Sl el e R o PG | e A g

- -

A. We lost lese than 100 planes, ‘about ‘half in the alr and half on the ground.

Q. What-revisions did you make in yuur estimite’ 6f Ailied plane after the e B
veptember landing on Palau and Morotai? - . .

A. We still felt the Allies capable-of landing at Davoa, Leyte 'or-lamon Bay. The ;
.area north of Mindanao seemed more probable in view of the Palau landing. at ;

" this time we felt the landing cdould not take place until November since we
thought at lecast two months would be necessary for Allied preparations.

Qs Was th¢ Army or Nevy Eir Force responsible for tHe defensc of Mindanao?

A:; There werte only Navy planes at Mindanao, but the -army pla:@é were to move down
-1f necessary. | 2R . e,

& Did the Navy air Force agree with the Army estimate of allied intentione?

A, 1 am not sure. The Navy was put ting special cmphasis on the defense of
Mindanao. - g g e o

@. When the carrier force struck the Ryukyus and Formosz in the period 10~16
October were any 4th Air Army plancs committod?

A, N 9, except for 7 and 98 Flying Regiments which were undoer Navy command. When
the carrier force was withdrawing northeast of the Philippines, a few 4th
Alr Arny plaaes were committed,

We What was the Japanese estimate of Allied plans after the 10 Octuber carricr
strike on the Hyukyus? gy ,

A. We felt that the purpose of this strike was to cut off the supply of plance
cuming down to thne Philippinces from Japan and tu isolate the Philippines. This
confirnced our fecling that the landing would take place north of Mindanad,
puseibly at Leyte, Lemon Bay, aparri or un Formnosa.

W Did you regard the Ryukyus-Formosa esrrier strile of 10-16 October as an im—
nediate prelude to invasion of the Philippince? '

4

A. N,, since we still felt that a landiirg would not be rMad.e until November.

Q. What were your plans for the air defense of Leyte?

4 1.

.
. e T '] - ¥

A, We planrned to operate heavy bumbers from the Manila~Clark Field area ang, fight-
ers and light bombers from the Visayas. We actually practised this defensc
Plan in late August and early September 1944, ¥ ' e

Qe What werc ‘to be the'pfihcipal targets of the heavy bomberse? e

A." Transports.

& Were attacks to be by day or by night?

A. &t dawn and dQusk.

Qe What borber strength was to be available? _‘7;

A. -a @trength of 4 Flying Regimehtaiof*the 7th:and.9thfFlyiﬁgIarigd&ea.' I recall
toree of the fourfhegimentﬂz - the 12th, '14th*and ‘62nd Flying Regiments.

Y weTe those 4 Flying Regiments actually in ‘tie Philippince a4t the time of the
Le}*te lalldings' ci e O ety T AN S by By tee LW e T bt . R T P . s o ...

A, No, the September carrier strilkes had forced tihe withdrawal of cur bombers to
Palawan, Malaya, and China. The 7th Flying Brigade was in Malzya.

— =

T S |
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Interrcgation %249 (Cont!d)

(Second Session) ~ PHILIPPIVES CaMPAICH

Q. At the start of the PHILIPPINE CAMPAIGHN, what was the gengrashcal
distribution of Army and iavy planes? -

A. The main fighter ferce of the Fousth'Air.ArmE'was in the MANILA and
CLARK AR:A and TEGROS. The medium bombers were at KUDAT, PUERTO FRI:CESA,
2IPA} heavy bombers at MaANILA, SHANGHAI and FORMOSA 4n general.,

3 Did the'Army have any-strength at MINDINAG? o ..

- -

A, Fr,
Q. las the location of Army and avy Air Units based en the differences
in fuceticn or on assignmént tb “the defense of different geographical areas?

- 4A. The +avy and Army had built their éwn air fields. The ravy-alr fields
at UaVaO, CiBU, ZAMBOA.Gs&, TaCLOBAN eand KICHOLS FIELD. The Navy fields or
bases were considered the front line base in which they couvld carry out patrol
and searches for the enemy and the Army bases were considered secoadary. If
necessary .of course, the Navy could fall bacx -tn the arm¥ys fields.

Q. vicre the 200 planes lost in the first carrier strike, that you

‘mentloned yesterday were they Army planes?

A. all Army planes..
Q. vwhere were those planes lost, what arca?

A. UEGROS, PANAY, TalNGAD Ta.JaY ~ND CAGAYAW.

q. Jes this attack a suprise or had you expected it?
A+« Just twe hours warning.

Q. Was that the first time the Fourth air Army experiecnced an attack
by our carrier Task Fcrcof

A. Yes, this is the first time.

e Did they have previous informaticn as to the tantics and instructioais
as te effoctive counter measures? - 7 - ' ' g 0

4« - vome informeticn had beein received from the tavy of this tyne of _
atiack; cnd an attempt was mede to disperse the planes, but they cculd not
satlsfectorily accemplish this Bue to laclk of strength and air field facilities.

& UWere you acéquainted witd the planes for the SF0-=CGO Operation?

4. That pl=n was for Both the Yavy and bhe4army, a joint overation. e
were acqyuainted with the plens. 77 © 0

¢+ In the plan fer the SHO-GO Operati n, what miscion wes assiened the
Fourth air ..:1.1'11'1,}’? b % oy ® T _

e the army and ithe lowy had seperate functicns in this plan. The
vavy vee tc attack the Task Force and the army to attack the transocrts; 1in
the second stage, after the U.S. Forces had epproached clescly, bcﬁh the aArny
and «avy were to zttack transoorts. Lt “rag the ‘responsibility of the ravy to
carry out <earcnes for the samerican Task Force.

<+ Did the Fourth air Army have knowledge'of the movements of the Jap-
angse flcet? S Bt ' b ' ’

A« Oniy two days before the battle did they have this nevs,

iy,

A

» Tags there any ettempt to cocordinate the Fourth Air Arny vlencs with
the Jepanese Fleet?

G




Interrogation #249 (Coant'd)

A. There wes no gttempt to coordinete with t

S the lavy Surface Force,
#ll Army planes were attacking the trangports. 2 '

Q...Roughly at thatsime, what waosg the.balance of the strength of the
Army and devy in the BHILIP#IEES?_. e

A Roughlf: they wer‘elablout tlie same,

.Q. What ﬁas'thebfeason for the division of

: effort between the Army and.
the WNavy planes: traditia, pleane

design or pi{pt training?

A. It was due to the type of planes ang type of training.

Qe In what way did thg-ﬂrmj'and Navy trainihg'differ?

A. 'Due to the faet that the I}

_ avy planes had a'longer range
‘trained in search. However, when ther

Il there was a shertage of Navy planes: the
Arqx‘plaﬁes would assist in searching, =

"only tranéports or could they
that were with the- transports?

Army pilots wers instructed to attack transports first, but if there

s they could attack other types. The rcason for this was
8 bombs were not suitable for attacking armored ships.

Qe 4at thi.s time were they still carryiné

out coventional attacks or
was it entirely KAMIKAZE attacks? ~
4.  Coaventional attacks at this time.
(Yo Wh

°n did the army begin KavIKAZE attacks?

B The

beginning was by the ong of Oetober.
FUGAKU FOACE. G

It was k.own as the

Y. During the progress of the sca battle
&1 aArmy have information as to how those

» On the 25th;- did the Fourth
they only hear about it after it was all

bettles were pregressing: or did
over? . :

Ae No, I was in NEGROS dat tho time and got partial reports from the
pilots and .from the Liaison Officer of the Sceond air Flect, . Therc was
not detailed information end consquei:tly no assistance from the army planes
was requested. g .

o In:NOVember; th¢r¢ were attabka on our position in _LEYTE by para-
chute troops, whore dig thie attack come fron and what strongth was thece?

. #. They canc from JAPAN,
They came $o Clark.e,nd uips.,
300 troops. briat

13 called them tho Scecond Parachute

Br igade e
Tho attack strongth dropoed LEYTE

was ncarly

We “hat did thoy expeot that reig to accemplish?

4. The main purpose wa

s to occupy several air fields South of TACLOBAN,
in coordination with a JaPANESE*ground attack.

0. Did they have any Teport on the success of that cperation?
Rbhdireét~information'came'from
that tvo air fieclds vere occupied by
8sécond purpose wag to cause a diversi
might aporoach and land at ORMOC.

£ho

them, but the Army plancs confirmed
themselves for two or three days. The

on under cover of which reinforcements

e In November ang carly December,
ORMOC, what was the
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Interrogation 4249 (Cunt'd) L
e Who planncd fhé5bperaticn? 2 ol
A. General YaiaSHTA. ' ; B

W+ es the operation eontrolled by the ATy T

4 as far as the air defenso of convoys was concerncd, the Army and
Navy operated jointly. v B At |
Qe ‘as an,one in control of the joint cperations?

d ’ § %

A. There was no one porson assignei to either wavy or army., It was.
carried ‘out by cooderation and constant liaison., b

we Did you feel thet the Alr protection, given t¢ thes. convoys, was
suffici ont?

4o Extremely unsatisfectory and the loss was very high. The scercity
of plencs w=g most sericus at that time end if I remember correctly; only
four or five vessels out of some 50 arrived safcly ‘at C3MOC and unloaded.

v+ &% what time did they abandon the ides of defending LEYTE?

A. I'm not surcy the deeision was given at about the seme time your
trocos landed at S JOSHE, |

iy

e Hadfycu‘expccted'ﬁs to make our aext landing at Sal¥ JOSE?

#. They expected at NEGROS or calsaYs or at the same.tine, or later at
LEGASFI. There vas some thought of an attack on NUATH BORWED ond ~n Pooaliall.
Lend to land novenments were expected aftor tho LEYTE leanding ia all dircctions.
o Jum> as leng as that to MI¥DORO was not expceteds |

we Jhen our coavoy was sighted heading for SaN JOSE, wvhat was your
cstimate of our intont?

Ae Tho Conveoy was sighted at the SULU SkEa, but its objective was not
krown until the landing.

L= I

.« Whet forces did you send agaiist this' eonvoy, with what results?
Av o .bout 280 army end Navy Planes we.o sent- agaianst this convoy.
‘le Het results ‘did they got from that attack?

Ao The result of this att-ck wasg not-'very clear. asll plancs attacked,
but no informetion was received beek. Most of cur planes did not return.
dhe only reoports were by Wirelega from ‘the planes saying, “HOJ U £38 GCILG
0 CR.SH." I imagine that over 30 samerican vesscle were sunk. Thore was a
borrror of americea fighter planes staticned over BATAGAS ‘STRAITS: which mado
1t very difficult to pass excaopt, of coursc, at dawn or a2t dusk. amncricen
plemes in small groups wero over the air ficld on LUZOK, wWe were eble to
take off at such tines as«the; went away, but there was enother difficulty
1. that the Filipiros hod some nethod of signaliing the american fighter rlancs
Wion we were preparing to teke off which nede it very dirtficult,

w. about the first of January, what was your estimate of our intentioney

ae waindings were cxpeected simultaneously at APaHRI, ol G .Y, BaTuiiGaS,

]

. 3 . . | ® [ ) » | | » 1 ‘
w» What prticulat operationel difficultiscs did you hav: by the cad of
the year? . ; % |

4e W2 could not have any-time to repair the.planes beceusc in the dey
time, amorican plancs werc above them end the time for repeirs was linited

to thoe night tine; we had no zood mechanics because, most of thon wero at
wBEROS 2nd we hed been unable to. evacuate them;  also thc lack of spar. parts.

-
._.8-—
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Interrogation %249 (Cont! d)

Qs When our convoy; in carly January, approached LINGAYEN GULF, how many
planes did you send against that convoy? 8 Py : '

A. About 100 to 150 wavy plane

s+ Yhat targets were asclgned to the pilots at.this timo? .

4. They were orderecd to attack the

T s ¥ aiieais
-L‘li...,TJ o) N L -.Jliwk.q

leading convoy .with coopcration of

- # '.‘L

v wers the attacks on tho bo}nbafdm-'--alt and mino aﬁgaper -groups insido
of tho gulf madoe pPrincipally by Army planecs?

a. First day it was mostly Nevy pla‘néé; | this 'r'ea'ao'n'wa‘é bocauée tfm‘Navy
Planes could roach the convoy. The army plancs mede a migtake and attacked a
trangport convoy. after tho sceond, day, they att-cked all together, s

R+ Did they have any assistance from plancs based at FORMOSA

A. No assistance et all from FORMOSA,

Q¢ © I weuld like to chack tho figures you
Air arny had 300 aireraft in the. Phily
total of approximately 2300 reinforeco
correct? . SR

gave yestorda,y,,__ you said Fourth
ppines in carly -Ucto't;er_,land received
ments during the campaigii¢ Is this

L

A« I think thats about right, not more than 2300 reiaforcements, per-
haps a little logg. .

Qe How many planes did Jsou cvacuato from the ,PHILJIPPIHES?.‘ -
" K. ucss than 20, e e

Qs That comes 6ut rou

ghliy at 2500 .A.rﬁy plalles loet in tho PHILIPPINES
CAMPAIGY, do you think it & *

§ & reasonable accurate guess?

i. That is about right,

Qe What weas the

most important cause of these lossos cavering the
wholc campaign? o gt e it . .

b 1N the first stage; the most irportant causge wé,s the 2ir raids and
the bad condition of alr fields, so the loss in thoe first stagc wes about

2/3. The first stage is considered from Octobor to the middle of Novomber
and the latter stage tho 2/3' cana down to l/ &

Q. What other cause was there in lattor stage that was important?
% Fight in the air and erashes.
‘ Q,.* Vhat $ypé of air raid did they foar most?

iAe 4t the beginning the serioua damage was done by carricr air raids; ..
towvard the end the'mopa ecricuis damage was from B-24 carpet bombers. .

L

_ Q In general, do you believe that the U.S. plancs werc better or Just
that there were more of themy - ' - ' | .

a. Yos, botter.

ge Whiclkz 2o jyou think was the best?

-4+ la bombers, of coursc, the B-~29 outsfan.ding; as for fighter ilanes,

the FOF was the Dbost although possibly that is- the treining.. Navy fighter
Pliots were ‘mch better trained than the arny fighter pilots. :

. ;ﬁlollg tha., .txrm;;'-‘fié;’*x_ter- plenes; whieh type "did he. think was the best?

: as P-Bl and P-38, ¥We took the P-38 rnorc seriously eince NEW GUINEA.
“Where we had sc much ﬂiff-it:ulfty with P-38. - . .

=G

—

s which twas 8-1little more than Army planes.




Interrogation #249 (Cont!? d)
Q. When, in jyour cpinion, did ‘tho wor swing ageinst tho JAPANESE?

A. I think that from the bag@gning 0f11943.ﬂmerican ettacks started.
The source of. thls iﬂformatiqn is from %tho N~val Officors with whonm I had
freque:t diséussions, For Sl i Lo L , EIPW, T

-
3 ,._.". ' Y W

- Qe A8 the war went on, whiéhvgii'ﬁﬁéy@qnsidqr'tho rost sariapﬁ threat?
The move from-Solorons end New ‘Guniea “or the Central Pecific canpaign?t:

. i | - AT 1 de a L -
4. Persohally I thought that the movement from the South, which threst—
ciied to cut off our suoplics end resources, was;the rost scrious throat.

Qs Beforc our landing on LEYTE, 4iqd Jyou at that time beliewe that you
could successfully defend the PHILIPPINES? .

Ae e thought that it was a 50 50. proposition except thet propahly
you could succeed in some lendings, Put we could also continue to fight in
various poirnts. At the time of your attack on LEYTE, we were astonished that
JOou cane so soon as our prepration wes 1ot conpleted and go the conditicn

becane worse than 50 — 50. |

Qs When was it deeided to reinforce the PHiLIPPINES-from gANCHURIﬁ?
4¢ 4t the beginning of Moy, On 26 npril 1944, the Sixth Fi&ing Divieion

suffered very heavy losscs at HOLLANDIAand fcr this reason it weas decided
that the Philippines must be reinforeced from MANCHURIA,




Interrogation #249 (contd)

TRAINING ER OGHAM °

(Third Session)

Q. Before we come to the treining} I would like teo ask yeéu-(Col Matéumae )
a couple of questions on whet ybu.aaidlﬁhe'cther day about the Philippines
Campaign. You said the last ime I talk’ed, td you that en the 9th of January
the Japanese. Army Air Fereces had .130 aifcrift in_the,Philippinqs; I wonder if
you meant 120 en 9 January or 120 n thé first of Jemuary. You aleo said ‘that
between the 6th of January and the 9th of’Januaryo.120p1angs,approximataly
attacked the task force aporoaching Leyte and that hany bf“thém”were_lbst
Before the 9th, so that, therefore, it's hard to see how there were 120 on
the 9th, I wonder~ if you could clear that 5y«

A. On the 4th and 5th of January, planes attacked the Mindoro airfield,
and on the 6th started the attack on ehipping in Lingayen Gulf. At that time
we had 120 planes including the replacements that came in. For the month of:

Jenuary, I would estimate the losses at 170 planes, Thatjfigurq of 120 planes
was for the first of Janmary. ¢ -

Q. Another question has arisen in talking about your last week's an-
Swers to0-our queetions in respect to what.were -the Japanese.plans on the
S0th of May and what were the Jopenese estimates of Allied intentions on she
EOth.oflMay. I wonder if you could repest approximately what you said last
week about Allied intentions in respeect to the Philippines on the 20th of May?

A. On the 30th of Mey the U, S. forces had just landed at Biak; there- °
fore we thought that elther they would strilke North toward Palau, then over to
Semar or Leyte, or proceed from Biak up to Halmahara, Morotai, or to Manado

and thence up to Daveo. However, the prevalling opinion wes that they would
take the latter route.

+ Q. Thank you. Now what was the Jepanese estimate of Allied intentions
after the carrier strikes on the Ryukyus which took place on 10 October?

A, On October 10, Palau hed alreedy been invaded: in accition, Morotei
had been occupied, but the fact that American foreces hed gone to Palau made
us feel that the attaclk on the Philippines would teke place somewhere in the
Gentrel Philippine area. However, after the Taiwen (Formosa) sea battle,
because of the American losses in aircraft carriers thet we had heard about,
we felt thet the invesion of the Philippines was not imminent.

A. In a senes we dig. While we did not take the regular communique as
teing the truth, our reports indicated that losses hac been fairly heevy,
Heowever, after the bettle of Formosa, the Americen forces retired towarcs

the Philippines, ond beceuse of the intensity of their air attacks, we did
feel that their losses had not been too great.

Y+ VWhat was your next duty after you left the 4th Air Army - your next
aseignment?

A, Officer in Cherge of Treining et Air Headquarters.
Ge Pllot training?

A, Yes,

Q. And you hagd Supervision then over s11 the Japanese Army Pilot Train-
ing Schools, both in Japan and outeide of the country? Is thot right?

A. I had no actual Jurisdiction over training =t the verious airfields,

My duty wee to fupervise the training program. After seeing action in the Fhil-
ippines Campaign, I was called back to Tokyo to Air Headquarters in order to

Prepare training programs whereby we would benefit from the lesecons learned




Interrogetion #2400 (contd)

Q; About what day did.you.take'up theee duties - whet timo?
A. Tebiuary 20, 1945, “ 1 i fasian o e
Qﬁ And.how'ldhg &iﬂﬁyou,hold+tha$*positiont i

A. Untill the end of Merch, I shall now explein something sbout the
chain of commend in thie'treining program: My bureau had direct control over
the activities of the verious Kyodo Hikoskidan; in addition, it controlled
the activities of the various teechniecel air depots (Kenkyujo). In addition *
wve supervised the training program for the wvarioue Kokushidan under the Koku-

gun.

Q. 5o that in substance you controlled the flight training program
wvhich was maintained in the Kyodo Hikoshiden end you supsrvised the flight
training progrem which weze maintained in the Xyoilma Hikotel and the Reneel
Hilzotal and the Renshu Hikotai?

Ae That is correct.

Q. Did you cecase to have any connection with'ﬁhe training progrem efter
the end of March 194567 - -

A, After the end of March an orgenizeation was set up which was mown
as Koku Sogun and I took over the srcme duties ss formerly in this new orgen-
1zational set-up. g |

Q. How long did you continue to be eonnected with the training bureau -
of Koku Sogun?

A, Until the 24th of August, 19245,

Qs S0 that from the 20th of February, 1945 until thec end of the wver
you hed control of the flight training program of the Kyodo Hikoehiden -and
general supervision over the flight training progrem of the Hy01:u.Hikotai.
the Reushu Hikotai. and the Ronsoi Hikotai?

A, Thet is correct.

€. This ineluded treining unite. in the southern ereal

A, Yo

G. It included only training units subordinate to the Xoku Sogun? |

&, That is correet., b8 | W ' B

. Qe In other words. tr:ining unite in Jepen proper, Menchuris, Xoree,
ond China? : -

A, That is corroct._

Q. You never h d jorisdlction over the trrining'units in Formosart
Ae NO, b - i ;,.

Q. TWére there any:training-unito-in Formosa durina this periodrs

A, Prior to the formotior of the Foku Sozun. there were'un1tr in Formose,
but subsequent to thet they were diesolved, These unite were under the control
of the Formosa.nir Heodqusrtere.

Q. Were they under tho-control of £t Filkoshideni
A, Yes,

<. How many asircraft were assigned to the treining unite under Koku Sogun
et the time of the eorgeizotion of the Kolmu Sogunt




Interrogation #249 (cont 6.)

- 't -

A., &actuelly, the number d.eeignated for training purposee wase ebout .'3000
planes, Wut those that were actually operational were.ebout, e tnoueeno or.
lese,

Q. Of the 2000 planes aesigned to the Koku Sogu.n training organizetion,
how many were combet type planesi’ < Lp et | _

A, I would say aooroximately a thOueano plenea, but thie included many.'
many, old types and. thoee thet were act‘uall'y capa'ble of" :t‘ighting were extrem—
ely few, : . . . e

Q. Vhat was the principal elementary treinert?

g The KI-86 (Jungmann trainer) and. t“he typo 96 Mark I treiner.

Q. The KI-9? |

A. I don't remember.

g How-many elementar:y trainers?
A, Approximately 800 planes in.‘ioth types.;
Q. Those 80N indluded in the 20007

h. Yes; & thousand planes were combat typee end about 800 elemente.m'w

Q. How many KI-79%
b }Lrou.nd 10C.
Q How many KI 54?
i ahout a, hund.red. and fifty or §ixty plﬂnee. I belleve.

Q. Do you have any recorde of thoee figures or are you reconstructing
hem from memory?

A, What I am now telling you is from memory.

Q. Did you have any idea of the number of training plenes not under 'the
Jurisdiction of the Koku Sogun' in the southern asreaf

A. The guata wae 528, We were unable to send replacements from the

Smpire, henee as a rough sstimate I would eay there were not more than 30C
planes, = e - . " : . e T

Qe These are Just training plenes, or do they include combat tyoee o8-
signed to training unite?

A. Up to and including the type 97 fighter: only.

(Col Matsumae stated that he would coneult with Col Matsuzewe end if poesible
would obtain more &accurate figuree on the aircreft training unite.)

Q. How many aircraft vere assigned. - tai'enk from training units under
‘your Jurisdiction .or under the Jurisdiction” of Kou:Sogun. and assigned to

special atteck units between the time of the organization of" Koku Sogun and
the end of the wer? " i v

A, Out of these 2000 plenee, I would say spproximately 500 planes were
sent from the training unite of Koku Sogun to special sttack units.

Q. So that at the end of the war thereo remained. eomething in the niegh—
borhood of 1500 aircraft assighed to. Koku Sogun? L

4. That is correct.




,Interfogation 249 (contd) '* | ; .;
Q. How emy plenes did you reesive?! These 2000 plenes were ones you hed
when you took over; how many additionsl combat Planes were assigned to Kokm
cogun between the time you took over the organization end the end of the wer
by the way of replacement? Le 4l W a8 _ f. | | .

A, We do not have the exact figuree on thet becruee that is in Col
letesuzawa'ls posseseion, but we will inguire of him and get you the figures,
While I do not remember the figures, my essumption is that there were Tery
few replecements, s '

Q. In other words, ordinary wasteage: whiech took plaece in the trainin
uinitves was juet about replaced by new aircraft or aireraft from depote?

hLe I believe that teking the entire orgaization of the Xoku Socun thet
we did have 1500 wlenes, but it muet be realized that mayde only 500 of these
were ectuelly in operation, '

G. How me,liv planes assigned to the training unite of the Koku Sogun
were destroyec. by Allied alr ettack between the time of 1ts orgsization and
the end of the war? |

A, I believe i1t to be under 50 plenes.

A How'many'dperatiOnel and other losses - aceldents, ostct

A, 1 sam eble only to malte a rough estimete of this beeauss our figuras
on operetionnl ‘losses include those in the southern regions end all operation-
al losses in combat unite 2lso, but I would estimate eur training plans lossecs

to be approximetely 50 planes a month of which a portion were repairable.

Q. In whet etege of training end with what types of eircraft did you
suffer the most Qifficulties? |

A. I would say thet the type 97 fighter losses were the grees e,

~

o Tou seaid that fewer than 50 plenes were dostroyed by Allied oir attacks,
dJag thoat over the whole period or just for a month? “

A. The whole period.

Q. At the beginning of the wrr, how meny flying hours did a pilot have
wien he left a training unit snd wrs essiened to-e tactiesl unit? *

A, Three hundred hours.

Q. Thet is when he enters 2 toctiecol unit after having left a trnining

#, At the beginning of the war fighter pilots would be sent to troctical

units with sbout 200 hours of flight time =nd then would have approximately
100 extra houre before sent out on combet.

Q. So that the minimum level of experience of a J?pan'e'se fighter pilot
in, let us say, the 5th Hikoshiden ot the time of the early Philippines Com-
palgn in 1942, wes adout 300 hours? -' ’ ' T

& That ie correct,

Q. If the minimum wes 200 houre whet would be = -out the averaé'e' flying
hours? '

4. A cmuteicho would have about 800 houre and e senteicho about 3000 hours.
Q. How about the ordinery fighter pilot?

a. Ve figured that was about 600 hours,

v+ what was the situation in respect to bomber pilots? Was it about the
some as the fighter pPllote? What was the difference, if anyt

~lde
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A, It was ebeut the eame. I believe. but beecouse of dual controls on a
bomber it was hard to estimeto what their actuel flight time weuld be.

Q. Are you a fighter pilot or e. bomber pilot (asked of Col MEteumee)?

i b

A. A bomber pilot Major Merute is o, fighter pilot
Q,..How about reconneieence.pilot93

A, &About the same,

v @

C. Now at the time ycu entered the Kolu Sogun, in charge of training, -
vhat were the average fleuree for minimum flight time by fighter pilote

agsigned to tactical units?,

L

A, When they gradunted from this eehoel the'eenfeieho had about 1400
hours, the chutaicho hed.ebout 400 hours, while a.fiehter*piloﬂ‘hed about a

hundred hours.

Q."Do I understend thet'et the time a fighter pilot was assigned t0 a
tectical unit from a training unit in March 1945 he hed hed only 100 hoursa

flying time?
A, That is corfect;‘
G. 4And before he ehtered combat Eid.he have any more flying time? S

A, Perhaps 20 or &0 heure but thet would be all, ¥ might edd that
because of this fact we*pic zed only thoese pilote whom we belived to-have
possibilities and gave them further training in interception tectics whereas
the ones thet did not seem to be particularlv zood we shifted around to spe-

cisl etteck'unite.

Q. Why was it that the ﬁiﬁe given piiote in the training program before
. thoy were assigned to tactical units dropped during the war?

A. Three factors entcred into this: First was the fuel problem; second-
1y, the lack of plencs; end third, the neceeeity of pro&ucing pilote rapidly.

Q. When did the fuel problem first become acute?

4, October 1944,
Q. When did the ehorfege'of airplanes bYoecome:acute?

A. sbout the seme time; in other words, after the Philippines Cempaign

Q. and waen wase it dec¢ided ti ot pilote h~d to be trelned with great
rapidity?

. A, The need was felt first ebout Cctober 1943,

‘.Q.. o0 thet btetween the beginning of the war and Octeber 1043 the gen-
eral level of nilot experienco remained about the same? -

A, 4approximately the some level,

Q. The caliber of piidfe remained at spproximately the same level until
the time Raboul wes hemmed in which would be about autumn of 1943, and at that
Jbime you euffered heavy loeeeﬂ of tralne&.pilote? ‘

A, _That is correct.
Q. Was there any change in the training progrem at“thax time?

. A. There was no sudden drop but little by little we cut down the flying
hours. : o ; AR T T

Q. Now, what woe the sencral level of pllot experience at the time of
the beginning of the secod Philippines Campaicsn sbout the first of September
19447 How meny flying hours were given a pilot when he left the treining

o] Do




. Interrogation #249 (contd)

unit and entered the tacticel uniﬁe?

F W would. gay that the. avez‘age fun of of;icer pilote had about 170

hours and petty—-ofﬁcer pilote e.‘bout 190 houre, which would give us average
about 180, .

Q And they received treining in’ tactical unite bef ore thoy were ac-
tually sent to combet? If 80'; ‘how much‘? |

| A, No, this figure the.t I have given you 19 the one that they have imme-
diately prior to going into ecombat.

Q. Pilots then were sent into combet directly efter having left train-
ing units in the Philippinee? |

A, Th&l‘b ie BOJQ |

Q. Before this time, were pilots ever sent into combet directly from
treining units?

| A. Never before the Philippmee Gempe.i

Q. Before the Phillippines Campaign - immedietely before - how mich

additional training would a fighter pilot have before he entersd combat ai’ter
he left a training unit?

A. Yes, they received flight training,

Q. How much before going into combet i

T 4

A, About 50 hours, ' i : : o TR

Q. When you went back first to Koku Nombu end then to Koku Sogun efter

the dissolution of the 4th Air Arly. whet chengee did you ineup'urcte in the
training progrem? .

L. 8hs) e

A. We stressed attacks on"ghippi:ng. | ke
G- Before this time what particuler :l;e.ctic had been stressed by the
training commend? F o -

A After the experiences of the Philippines Oenpc.i n, 1 etressed the
fact that all planes, including fighter, bombers, etc, should be used for at-
tacking shipping rather than fly thoir particular roles in the echene of

things. In other words, we ptanned to meke all types of planes into special
attaclk planes, ' .

Q. In effect, then, you stopped traininz fighter pilote to intercept

Allied bombers and fightere and turned your training program into a program
for training pilots to attack ehipe?

9
. '

£, &5 I mentioned before, this does not necesearily mean that we did
not train fichter pilots but that we epent 'the first portion of the training

progrem in tralining them to stteck shipping and went 1nto attack, 1nterception
etc, in the later etegee of the treining proFrem.

Q. But in faect, you were interested in Building o counter-—ehipping air
force rather then a counter-air-force air forcet

A, That is correct.

Q. Outline the course of the flicht treaining prescribed for the averase
fighter pilot at the time of the end of the Philippined Ga.mpa.irn and at the
time you teok over supervieion and controlt

A, Before I left the 4th Air Army end took over supervieion of the traine

ing progran, 20,@ of & bonber pilotl!s training time wee devoted to landing and
take-offs, 28% to acrobatice, and formation flying, 12% to novigation and
crose-country fligzhte, and 40% to resular bombinz practice. iAfter I took
over supervieion of the trainingz program, only 15‘,’3 of & bomber pilotls train-

16~

L
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inz tine wrs token up with lond.in and ‘dnl.ef-offa 20% wae devoted to ocro-—
brtics and formation flying, only 8% to cross-country. rnd .nevizgation train-
ins, and 57% to the practice of attacke on shipping, principelly by "Hell-
Divine?, Preperat:lon for ‘bon‘oinz-: attocks, or the orthodox level bombing at—-
teck, ceme at the very end of the course and -decupied only a very short part
of the time. One reason for the emphasie ‘on dive~bombing was the. inedequacy
of the Japenese bonb-aiaht which did not allow any precision in level bomb~
in:, another reason wes that dive-bombing tactics lend thenselves to epecisel
attacks or suidide attacks, and ebout that.tine the Gonmandin.r General of

the ‘Koku Sosun announced that all pilots, without exeception, rust consider
theneelves nembers of Kemikaze unité, - /' ..

Q. What chenges did you make in the trainin,;: proezr,'a:h for' f i'éhtef' pilots?

i When I took over the training program, 25% of a Fichter pilot's
tine was devoted to landing and take~offs; 55% to.interception practice: 8%
to navigation end cross country flyinss and 12% to bombinz and stra.fln.a. .

Q. Did the bombing and strafing trainine which took place before you
took over supervision of the training program include dive-bombing practice?

ai Yeej 1t @1a. v

Q. When did you firet introdude any ‘l‘.raining at all on dive—bormbine:
with fichter planest?

i J'ust before the Philippine Campaizn - about.June 1944.

G. Will you continue your statement of how you chane ed the trainine
pi'onrn .when you took over in February 1945?

»

o N”hen 1 took over the treing program I directed that 25% of & fighter
pilot's time should be devoted to the practice of landings and take-offs;
32% to interception, 8% to navization and cross-country flyinz, and 35% to
the practice of bombing end strafing; with prticular emphasie upon dive-bomb-
ing, The reason for this increase in the percent of flizht time devoted %o
dive~bombing wae the sanme a® has beéen stated in respect to a similar increase
in the dive-bombing time of a bomber pilot, Because of the shortaf.e ot bonb-
ers it we.s necesaa.ry for fif..htara to attack shipping as well,

| Q,.- Now. I believe you ata.ted that at t"le tine you cane to Koku Sesun,
the averace time given a fichter pilot in trainins schoole before Joining a
tacticael unit wae epproxinately 100 hours. Is that correct? .

A, Yes, that ia sorrect.

Q, Wes it necesaary to ehorten that time during the period 'between the
end of Febru.ary 1245 and the end of the wart |

' Yes, there wes such & necessity,.

F Y

Q. How rmich ﬁas i’é éhortened?

A, after July 1945 they bea&n & Btudy as to whether they could shorten

this hundred hours down to 80 hours which neans a 20% decrease. They studied
but didn't earry out their plan. > 02 yor

Q. In other words, they'never ‘did. 11:?
a, No, they.never 'did it.

Q. Wiy wes it necessary to furth.er reduce the nin‘ber of hours ziven in
training unite?

e | L™,

.A. *G-asoline probiem.

Q,.- Thet out.weiahed all the other reasona? 'I'hat wes the nost iﬂportant
féactor? . g . .

T "'1..7" --
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A, Only gasoline. :
Qe Did you ever usc slcohol as an aviation fuel in training during this period?
A. They used plenty.

G- When dia you begin using alcohol for aviation fuel in trainlng?

®

A. Since after April 1945--beginning in april 19405.
% Wae alcuhul ever used in cumbat sireraftl

; %
A. They had such a plan tu use alevhol in combat aircraft beginning august of
this , ear but they never carried it outb.

Q. In what types cf sireraft was aleohol used as a fuel?

A. Aalcchol was used in training in all types of tralner aircraft and in the KI-27

and Kl-36. It was not uscd in any otler types of cembat aircraft althiough
there was a plan for such use.

(Intervicw, at 1215 was ad journcd tu 13380 hours. Additionall; present after Tre-
suning at 1330 heurs: Fur the U.S.a., Me jor JOHN SHIVELLY USMC, [nterpreter.)

Q. There are a couple of taings I'd 1ile tu ask you about what you seid this’
mornine just to clear the receord—-thingss that buthered me a little as I was
thinking about them: You sald that there were three factors which limited the
zpancse training program, ole >f which was fuel, one was a shortage of trained
piluts, and the third was a shortaze of airplancs. Now when you sald taat
LeTe was & shurtage of airplanes wiich limited the training prosram, aid ywa
mean curbat airplancs or training airplancesl? |

- A. The pruductiun of airplanes in thls (prugram) was tu cuver the loss of upcra—
tivnal wnits——nut to suppl, the louss in training units but only tuv cuver tiae
luss in tae tucatre v war.

& In uthier words, production of combat aircraft was sufficient to cover cunibat
lossce aud not sufficient to repluce training losses?

-i'l'l- Tllﬁ‘-t’ ib. I‘i&lltr

Qe Su tuat the sivrtage was i1 cumbat plases and not 1in training vnes?

A. There was a siaurtage of cumbat aircraft,

% In othicr wurds Utherc was a siortagze of coumbat aircraft for trajining purpuses’

A. Beeouse of the neeccessity of turning over as Liany planes 10 operatiuns as
pussible, it was in the operatiunal aircraft tnat we fouad a shortage for
trainingz.

Q. Now anotier questiun that I had in nind which aruse frum what you sald tiils
mornins$  You ezid that at ;the end of the war you had about 1o00 planes as-

sisned to the training units of the Kolu Scoun of which-only 500 were vperas=
tional. I wonder what was the reasun fur that low rate of scrviceability?

’ I
n gt

ey

A. They had 2000 and of thwvse, 500 were sent Lo speeial attack units. The 1000
were tne remainder, and the cundition of thuse planes wWele not sy puvd Bu tReTe
were unly 500 aireraft scrviceable.

Q. In oticr words the best plaiaes wero s.nt to the Spccialwét$ack Units?
& o i
A. Of tae 2000 planes they had, they touk the 500 best plares and tursed tuen
ver tu operational unitam » That left the 1000 worst planes, and of tiosc
only 500 were useable. That is just 25%, but had they:figured the whole Vaing
there would have been 1000 planes out of the 2000 or wunly 50%.

Q. Now, 1'd like tuv .. back tua different sort of subject and tall about tac
number of pilets you hat duying the war and whether they were of a liniting

R et
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Interruzativa #2492 Count'd N R " LT :

factor in your operations. Du you have any idea how many pilots Japanese
Arny Air Force had on the 7th of December 194le—the beginning of the war?

A, I duni!t remember.

Qe Do yuu remember whetier there were envugh pilots to man all the planeé' that
the Japanese arry Air Force had at that timel__ '

A, Just eavugh for the plancs.

& You had nv mure pilots than you had planes?

A, No surplus.

Qe About the same mumber of pilute ae planes?

A. Abuut the sane.

Q. You dunit Tremenber how many planes ytu had?

A, Approxinately 1500 é.ircraft.

Q. and yuu say you had Just abuut :the'n 150Q pilat's--fvx_"ISOO eir crews probably?
A, 1 Qut:.ld 8ay the pilots in the taeatre of the war approximately <000 aad the

piluts in varivus training schuvls and groups, 1000, sv altugether appruxi-
mately 3000, - '. | 3

&

Qe <2000 piluts in cumbat units and approximately 1000 piluts in"training?
As 1000 piluts in training means instructors and pilots in training schouls.
wo HuWw many trainece were there-~-how many student pilots?

a. The whule clurse lasted une year: six months for primaty course and ancther
8lx nwntns for advanced course. New trainees entered the group or unit twice

in & year. There would be about 1500 in a class,. or about 3000 graduates in a
year. ' ' | ' |

Qe In uther words the trainiug program put cut 3000 pilote in 1942 e¢ . that on 1
Jamuary 1942 yuu had about 2000 pilots in tactical units ready tu fly, about
1000 instructors, etc., in the training organizgation, and abuut 3000 trainces
of whum 1500 were in advanced training units and would graduate as fully
trained pilots at the ena of the first eix munthe of the year and the remain-

ing 1500 would graduate at the end of the year?
A. Yes, that's currect.
Q. That is the way it was un 1 Jamuary 1942?%

{ot this puint Cul MATSUMAE cunsulted with Maj MARUTA and constructed a table
showing the number of graduates from the advanced flyin,: schucls un the following

dates?) : A _
T . 5 Nunber of
: ' Date o Pilot Graduates.

- 31 March 1941 1000 -

30 Sept 1941 1580
31 March 1942 - 1600.
30 Sept 1942 o 3 - 1800
3l March 1943 1500

30 Sept 1943 1500

. 31 March 1944 -~ 4500
3l July 1944 | 6000
30 Nov 1944 | ' | " 4000* =
31 March 1945 - -~ - - o 3000

‘31 July 19+5 | | | 3000 AL

"Note: Oyt of a class of 6500 culy 4000 graduated because of the zasuline pro-
blcia and shurta.e vf training planes. WP &g | g, %
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P o o i T
e How many pil*ts was. it plaunei ﬁw train in 'the'qléaslwhich would anormally -have
,raduatud Ol 50 N vgmber 19@51 iy j:‘ E ff‘. ii il F 4 |

A; Threc thuuaa“d

yo ! o) i . '
G. As we unaerstand these fisures, they rEprusgnt the nuMber +f piluts whlch
actually sraduated in training units. Unduubtedly more pilivts entered thu
trainin, unite. What was the perceantaze of pilouts who entered the tr“1a1

units and whe, for some reascil ur other, were never qualiflgd?

&,
¥ ’ I : ! . . . & 3 3
W . .. el ' -

A. Those who entered the trainin' sehoil were 1500 o 0% cut of 1500 were not
sultjblu to bbCuﬂb pllutB.‘ ! | .4 g i

' .;f 5 : s 4 . o e i . ol ?

Q. In uth@r WurdB‘thL fiures wnlch.yuu have Juat siven us. are npt fiwurus vf e
pilit graduates from tra&1in¢.ach,tl but cf plluts untmrln the tralalnh LS

$Cal_u1? ‘ * Sa Tiles PN _' e 3 : , 4 @ ' 'L..r:‘. $'

L : s # e
) S . ’ -

- )

A. The wreduates aro 1550 i btyad cf 1500. T xonol S Ky o)
C. In 1921 the. un 3L March, 90% uf 1000-~in sther words, 200——pil.ts ;:raduatcdl
. ; ey B e Ag SR i ' ; TR \

A. That is right., | T e . ' i W g g, Ak

& Now did the percentace of pilcts whe were 1ut qualixlgd vary from the bgalin-
nin: tu the cad of the war? i o

A, There was 0o cliuijey but in seneral the abillty 5% 19 suitability~tv be a pilct} -
for tiuse 3000 at the end of the: war wab ‘lower than at tnp bptlnniﬂ, of: the war.
Ten purc@nt ouly. were eliminated as in 'the bezinain, .f the warj so bl t the
averagse ability was lower than in the bejiandas,

4

we But, Levertucless, you were furccd tu accept 20%? |
A, Yeo, althuw h the quality of the material dininished tvar& the cua of the war,
we cuntinued tu Lmdu te 90p uf thub; wiiv eutered.

Q. Are those o;uplb wiho cJtertd the clunchtarJ flgll; schucls or the people cne
terin. adveaiced flying sehbwlb? | S AT A IR

Al The* cut 10% ia thre prinary course, not in-the advanced ccurse,
G In the ndvanced cgurse, they qualifiéa evefyfddy that'uhtﬁréd'it? e k

A 'ns a rle tnt} didl‘t cut &Ny buj thcrL w's 3umg ¢3ceptiun,,in'the acvanced

trainin cuurse.. . " |
Q. In the advanced traiiint course there Were substantially no washoutbs? E R B

A. That is ri - ht. § =5 |
G Now Jue utngr thin: that we huvex‘t covered. "here there any l.osses for othe?

reasone such as ‘accicents sickness, ete? ._,

'
'] . ® Nl - 2

™

A, The ten percent includes all eczuses, -

e ~ Physiczl cuﬁditiJ;: digabrlity, ﬂﬂcidenta?  EVer0tu1ﬁp7,
3 ...---n. T : LV & SRR T
A. The tea pereent divides intu cates urles. accidents or sickness, less that (ne
perecent; tver nine percens, 'uaeuibabmlibg._.Acciab*ta during thu;prinary |
perivd Were practicallo JTL,*Quriﬁu the advunced trglaiﬁl we lust one or twe.

per class., _ ekt §

- - ..
a3l o e b ¥ "
. ‘l'.

we Ol ur twe per class——a class of 15007 e £ -
| ‘ | o) 19 ' N L 2 ’ - . ; _

A, We would have uie accident Per unit within the class--ten units within the
class~—s. that there would be ten ur 15 in a class of 1500,

%+ In the latter staces through the Kyoviku Hikotai and prior t¢ the stage of
the Rensel Hikctal, is that it?

20~
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Intorrogatiun %249 (Cuat'd) : _ 0 ¥edh
A, Up to the end of 1943, the system of training ineluded fifst the

primary ccurse and the secund course in the Kycilm Hikotai. "They changed the

system in the beginning of, 194+ ‘to classify into three: “the firet, primary

trainin,$ secund, so-called Kyoiku Hikctal, and the’ third called Rousoi Kikctei,

G&. Now, was the accident rate in the Reusei Hikctal jawadd .the androf the
war ligher than 1t wag in the Kyoilm. Hikota.i durim the same period?

Au Bin, Anndlaiahabi 1 Biothe e, { - e
G Approximately what was M musiietd Sebi i theiRsuloi Hikotai in
194 to 1945 during the time they were ogerating? t

A, Here is an e..:ample- In 19-.:4 there were 1500 cases cf accident, ineclud-
ing all types, even the very minute defects—for example, a whetl—-incluo:l.n,;, .
minor damage toc a plane where there was nc injury--~including all accéidents. . -
This is in 194-..:, and in Japan proper and Suuthern Asia; in all of the Japa.noso
A Air Forees it was 1500. Out of 1500, they had 300 cases in the primary course
and Kyviku Hikotai and Reusel Hikotai vf which 50 were in the primary, 100 in
the Kyoilw Hikoutal and 150 in the Reusel Hikotal,

%+ Was there any change in. those accident rates—the percent of accidents
in tral.oing either in the primary or the Ky.iku Hikotai or the Reusol Hikotel
between the beginning of the war and the end of the war?

A.. Yes, there eas a treméndous change,
(Cul MaTSUMAE and Maj MARUTA at this point cuneulted and prepared a sraph indi-
cating that the total repurted accidents suffered by aireraft ' in the Japanese
Army air Forces frum 1949 -ty 1945 , including minor accidents, wasfas followss

1940 b a1 300 -

1941 400

1942 bt « - 500

1943 N 870

194 % .t 1600 &

1945 . 1300 (up to 12 AuLuot 1945)

(Cul MATSUMAE explained that the figires included accidents reported to Koku
Hombu only and that ordinarily an accident would be reported. onty if a replace-
ment was required or the a.irpla.na had to be sent to a shop for repair.) -

Q. You said, as I und.erntand it, that the Japanese Army Alr Force, at the
beginuing of the war, had 2000 trained pilots attached to tactical units and 1000
trained pilote serving as instructore in the training organization. You also
said that in Octcber :of 1943 the pilots eltuation became critical; that it was
therefore necessary b0 reorganize the training progran and to cut down the
number ¢f hours which were given to studeat pilote. Aoproximately how neny
pilotes did yuu have assiguned tu tactical units in October 1943!

A, at the time of October 1943 there were 2500 pilcte in the units and
in training echools—~-that means instructors and assistarnse~—one thousand. The
e500 figure net only 80% of the demand for pilote by all air units. The ,
number of units was becoming bicuer and bijzer su that we could only supply up
to 80%; the demand was bigger than the supply..

Q. Was the reason-for the demand an increase in aircraft producti.n or
was 1t loeses which had been'.sustained in-the Solomons campai’n?

A, The most inportant.reasan was “the dcale of ‘operations as a whole——
Southern Pacific, Northern Pacific, all theatres of war—~the scale of operatiune
was becuming bl .er and big:oer. Tha.t 'wae of noet importance - and secund, after
tae Sulomons battle the Arny Alr Forcea cuocperated with the Navy air Foeces.

we LI other words, in October of 1943 the Je.oa..aeoe‘ ATHY ALr Force cuirtem-
plated expaidilz ite operations and oooporat:.nb with tho Nav;y in tie Solounmoas.

canphizil L
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K  TBB

l ¥ ..

Q. Were operstions of the'UaDanese ﬂrmy.nlr Forcp Guring;thL first year

of the war---this is the year lgﬁﬂna-aVPr curtailed beceuse of =2 ahortage of
pilote? -

A. Yes, because of thﬁ'shortage“éflpiiotdtés well as plenes, Wot ocaly the
pilots, but shortares in both pilots and plenes. For example, we had such an
experisnce in 1942% we hed slanned to send Army Air Force units to the Solomons
area, but beczuse of the shorte; xo 6f silots and plenes we didn't carry out this
plan, wuntil aftor October ‘1942, so that’ 1t wae delayed. ancther: experience was
that of Oelrutta lndla. the plan to attack Calcutta in the niddle of October
1942 was prohidited~--nct permitted dy Gencral Hbadqpartcra---only because of

bt snortmg~ of pilcte ond plencs. That {s onc of the plens which wasn't carried
out. F i o B ; s I

.- ¥ ¥ o *a .

Qo Woen did you firet hit Cvlcutta? . A

Ao The‘plan.was-originally‘on-a big sea. O ;Aé.thé‘rcéuit:of doteching
most of the pilots 2nd. plenes for the campeign in ‘the Scolomons, the remailuder
in Burna wss very small. We d1id carry out, only once, a mnall attack, far from
the originel jlan. ‘ | | "

Qe Was the shortEﬂe of nla 1288 G! nsiﬂﬁrod norg surious than th shortﬂ”“~
of pilots, cr wes tho shortesc of pilots econsidorpd rore sordcus than the e ort—
age of nlanes? What was the limiting" foetor? | -

A. Planos vere mhrb serieus1than ﬁilotq,
4 Q,'.ns y undvrqta¢d it ﬂftor October 1943 ycu xpﬂndcd your trainiiz ,
grogram in view nf the shoertage of pilots. Lt about the sere timo, es I undor~
stand 1%, tnh,productﬁn1 of "aircreft wes 2lsc exuondod--is thet -correct?

. L Y L |
f . r'

s

it 4, Yﬁsiygu.are.right} 'Tn_aédifi:n,‘the lose in New Guince wes vory,
vory biz. . - o _ . : oy
G. Loss of planes or oilcts?”
A. Planes, .. = - S i
Qe Tou lost more-plencs thon pllots in Now Guina®

a. Yos, and it was a v1t91 problem et tﬁyt tine. :_ :  ' ;o | o
Q- '. SG trha-t il’.l .ﬂ-pril Cf 1944; at ‘th“ tim-'ﬁ Qf th\“‘ lﬁss (ﬁ H.’}li.:'-,‘."].diaf, yc_u l_e
had ncre pilots than you had pleanes? 3

L Y .
"

a. JYes, yuu arc right; there was'a shortaze ¢f lancs. Bspocially ~ftor
April 1944, it bocarc 'wost serious.. The clrpl ne probl;n bacane nare soricus,
mera and more,  than plle ts,'ﬁspoclallJ aft‘riuoril 1944.

o ~t this time, however, you were c¢uineoricd becnuse veu hz¢ hed to cut.
drwn tiae time in triining given t~ plliote, is thet crrr“ct? nu neé plernty of
vilc ts, but their qp;l;ty wes falking cff, is thet the cnrrect 91tuetiﬁa?

fAe  Your wodc rstandll ig right. Ia ad’ “Tticn we ““pSCtﬁe morq,prfductl
cf .lanes 80 wo had big,pleae for supolying nore pllfts-—-sey*“bout 6000 -
but afterwearis wo fpuad.thc t plaic productisn bocane worge ¢nd worse, aud we

cut the awnbor cf_ trzing-s. The lewt cf the thr*"‘* class:s in 1944 was cut fr(n
2 prepnged 6500 to 4000,

(Col MaTSUMAE drow a 904011 frﬂoh indlcating that the actual arédﬁctinn cf .

aircraft fell substziticlly »elow the ple. ned preduction of Plrcrﬁft' wheresa the
actual preduction 0f onilcts more ncarly kopt pﬂc W1th the Ql&uﬂﬂ& production of
piluts,) | .-

r

Qe In cther wrds, you heve previnusly aeiven twe reee~ne for tae reduction
in the numbor of piluts trained in 1944: shr rtape of fuel sud shortasc of
treininy aircraft. Now yeu =re ~dding 2 third roeé-nt The existonece of mere 4
pilcts than ermbat. planes? =+ %2 LY f

8 By " =7
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Interrcegstion $#249 (C-nt'd) , 4
A, Yes, and thc shortage cof trainers 2s a raesuvlt ¢f° ‘the shortege of pro—
ducti o sc thet numbers 2 2nd 3 run intc the geme rasson.

Q. Did the air attacks on the Philippines which began about the firstof

September 1944 heve any effc ct'upon the: trainiLq unita wh10h1were operating in
the Philipnires? ; By e ,

A. There were fcur changes in cur tactics: first, tc attzck the Allied
Task Fcree with the corperaticrn of the Jepanese Novy air Férces: -Secend, Jap—
ancse bombers, which are nct sc powerful ageinst carriers, had tc be lccated———
cr relocated---in -Borneo, Sumatra Malaya, ete, Peyond the range ~f carriers
Third, 2isperaael had tc be carried out; and Iourth nags cmployment of fi shter
planes, nrt'by Binel@ grcups, hed t¢ be carried hut azaingt carriors. o

0 e

Qe These were the lesscna, 1 take 1t wh1ch ycu'iloarned as 2 rosult of
those carrier atrikes. Now what I really mcant rather than that.wag: there
werc certain training units in the Philipjines and I thought that they were .
either compelled tu move or they stopned thelr trainling, cr they suffercd losses,

end I wanted tc kucw what effect that had upon the treining unite and upcn the
Jepanese treining prozran in generel?

a« PFirst of all, thcse training units in the Philippines were fereed to
neve -to Malaya, Jeve, and tc¢ French ‘Indc-China. Secondlypy .speciel training was
given in the lessons learned in the carrier attacks. JAfter Auzust 1944 we
expected attack by'nllie caerriers =21d began t rcve the trainina wiiita,

Q. .nfter tne 1nvasirn of Leyte !hich tock plase on 20-21 Octnbur 1944
weore any wilets vwho had been trained in the Philippines cr in the sruth
£ the Philipoines aver brought besck to Janan <r brought ncrth of the arca in
which they were training and attachod 'tc units in the Fapan besed iir Forcel
In other words, after the ianvasion of Leyte, did the training ever nroduce pilots
wvhe flew for the Japancse air Fercos in other:-than 'the scuthern arca?

He THere-wss n¢ idea to traasfer cr te reolace these 92ilots from the
rhilipnines =nd cther southern areas to Ja)av aveon after the iavesicn of Leyto.

Qe Ia cther woerde, the invasi-n of Leyte Cut thcge units «ff frem tho nerth?

Ao Nu, nlainly net. We intended tc use thém in cosecretions in the s~uth,
2lways.

Qe Before the invasion cof Leyte, was 1t ever intended to use )ilcets who
were being trainéd in tho Philiowines and in the scuthern sres auy-plsce.out-
side the scuthern arcal

£e as 8 Tule they hed a ach oelicy t¢ train the nilcte in the arce to
which they wore geing to be assizned. ‘Only a few excepticns—~—-that is, the boest
b»ilots---were sent to Jaoan as instructers. The reescn for having the training
units in the snuth'was that tgpy'were clrse tc the source «f fuel.

we Wes there ever auy onllcy in the Jajranes> uir Frrece tc rotate pilots
=4 briug those whoe had fouzht for 2.1l ng while back to Jeapan for rest?

A.' Yes, we had such a plan, but it was not carried cut, In cther wcrds,
vilots were sent Back to Japan in cese they lost thelr w»lane or- the pype cof
plane nad’changed, ‘tc bring beck new types of plane or new plenes. about one
months lcave was givea tc those pilcote wheid they came bdboek to Japais

- Qe Was there ever'aﬁy linigati n placed by the Jepaincse «#rmy upca the
length ¢f service in combat that the pilcts should have?

A, They had nc regulation at ell. Of course we theught that it night be
better t» have such a regulation, with authority to carry out such unecessary
rest or leave, * B  w ~ .

L. :
w 59 9

Q. But ther: nover wes such o r»&ulaticﬁ? :

A. They had no regulation at all. Thoy wanted such a plan but had never
been able tc nut it inte effect. FO R o | b :
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Intb'rr*-::fgatibxi #249 ( cintld)
. Qe . "They"--meaning the.pilots~—arented it, <r tho 4th air arny, or whet?

ae The Staff officors of Koelu Humbu as well as the Scuthern army arnd I
had such ideas. s+ L1 yT

Major MaRUTA! The Cermander end seni r «fricers ot Kol Hombu also h-@
euch ldees.

Q. Whay didu't thoy put the 1dea into cffcct?

As No raplacemontss In ad?itisn: the Jepeneas .ir Forces were sc busy
rud were constaently beins driven all the time from the very beginnin~s t~ the
end 2ad even after the ware 5 2 | |

Qe ¥T'u said that in 1945, at the cnd ~#f March, 3000 qu&iified 'pil':)ts--
or rather, 90% of 3000 aporoximaetely, or =bcut 2700 pilote~~comileted thoir
flight training and were ready t2 be asci-ned to units for combat, Hcw meny

of thoeo 2700 3ilits were assicned tc rerular tactical units -2nd how, meny to
the speciel attack unite? |

ie B0% of 2700, were assiznéd to-special etteck units. Fhe others, 70%
went toc cther units—~—air defense units ond srdinary operctive unitse. .

Qe dnnther sroup of pil-ts graduated from flyingz schcel con aporoxinmetoly
dl July; is that corrcct--say 2700 c¢f then. Actuelly how nany of then were
assizned to special attack units =1d how n°Ry to tacticel units?

A« The sane projortica,

g We can add these fimures together and find out how meany nilets the
Japanese forces had at the end of the wer, But all these fisurce are,ap rox—
inate, and we wonder if you can state the numbor of pilots that they hed at
the end of the war——how mouy in tactical unite, hew neny in special ettack
uaite, how many instructors, =t the end of the ward

A« after all, therc were sone casueltics. Thoe ~rand total of ﬁil;')ts,*
iaeluding even General pilotss 8800 #rend totals The Kamikeze, 2000; tectical
ualts 2ud cthers, 5000; - in treicing oroups end schuols, including instructsors
encd aseistent instructers, 1000: 800 in hosnitals, The 5000 pilots in tactical
ei1l. cther units were also trained for specizl attzck: so if you call tae 2000
oilote Special Attack pileots, you must alss cell those 5000 pllots i.[ special
attack units. The pilots in speciel attaeck units wore those trained only for
spceirl attack. I might say these 2000 pilnte in so~called special attack
uitlts were trained cnly es far as primery treining for diving and no mares in
general, further treiuving was to heve been ziven to all pilots; dbut ia certsin
cases wacn we were suffering from-seareity of petrel and planes, they were .
only trained for the orimery diving and nc miree.

Qe How many hours of training woere ziven to the dilets in the snocial
attack units?

A« Minimui, 70 heurs; avercge, 100; naximum, 300, fcr the leaders 1in
the special attack uaits. | ‘ ' s

A

. Q. This moraing we asked you how many hcvrs you zave t pllcts near the
end of the wer bdefore they were assizned to tecticel w:its, and the =2nswer,
I believe you geve, was 100 hourss is that cerrectl
A« Yes, =~ 120 or 130 hours.

- & There is 'ne more ‘thing: What were the totel casualties of JAAF
pilots from the beginning tc .the ondf | s

A. Total casualtics curins the period ie 11,200.

‘v« Eow many would you have t: add if you tock inte consideratin the
menibers of 2ir cruwed Navigators, Bembzrdiers, Guaners, ete?

A. A large number. (Ctl MATSUMAE agreed to furnish these figures ot a
leter date when he had time to accurstely complle sanc).

—i e




In.t.erroga.t ion 4249 (Cont' d)

q, Wetld like to ask the Cclnnel 2 little moré about hie ~ereers When did
you learn to fly? ::

A« In 1937 at Tokorogewsa, then Hemamatsu. I startcd training in December
1937. | ' |

G+ When did you greduate?
e lﬁOVﬂm‘bCr 1938. .

Q Whr re were you aesigned for rlut.; 1n Novem'ber after you fmishkd f]-.i ht
training? .

of

Ae Fourth Sentai at Tachierei.. 3
Q,:‘ What fype of_airqfaft'dici_, you fly wheﬁ y;c}.u were attached to the: F;urth‘?
A. Type 97 Licht Bomber.- .
Qs When did the Fourth Hikosentai get KI-48s?
a. 1939, .' |

: Q*. ,Hoﬁ long were yf:':.u with “'t.h.e‘ l;oﬁfth Hikos_enta'i'? g . i
A. Seven mc;nthe. | -

f. and then where did you o?' )
Ao General Staff Office Staff‘HeadquarterB, in Tokyo.

Qs During what period.were you at the .Ganera.l' Sta.ff_ Headquarters?

4« Until Octob.r 1941. Then I went to General ..'-11rr;1y Headquarters, southern

Qe Where was tijiat?:_ . | "
4o  Saigon; afterwards,moved tc Singepore. -
Qe What were your duties whe1 you went te Sa,i;.wn? |

Ao .nir Operetions Section. '

-

Qe a4t th'a.t‘ timr.'r did you h@ve. any R]:i?.na_ ;for cper&t‘iqns in Malaya? .

- .

A. Yes, sir.

Q. When did you forlrrula.to ‘the plans-—et whet timo-—then you were $a.
Tokyo or when ycu were down there? :

A. Before I left Tokys.
Qe That would be in the surmer of 1941?

Ao The;deternination of the plan'was given in November 1941. The- Dlan
was formulated by September 1941 but was not put intc effect until December. I
The first time I heard of it was at the end ﬁf October 1941 Of course the
studies were going on before that date. S T Y

(L0 But the first tlme you heard the stumies were to ‘be put into. eﬁfect
was in October? i

Ae I heard about the plan by thé end of Octrc'ber. It {ira's rether an offi-

cial study started in July. I mysclf went to Maleya to atudy the arca the
arca the middle of mur’uet. T T T D as e o
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Interrogation #2549 (Cont'd)

Qe Wherabcuts in Malaye did you :ro?

A. First of all I inspocted the Malay peninsula snd French Indo~China, .
and Thailand to inspect the airfields snd determine their ceprelity for Japanese
Alr Units; to the Saizen ar-a, Bengkok ar-a. The Japanese Army &4ir Foreos
were located in French Indo~China, but not in Theiland.




